# S182598

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

BARRY ALLEN TURNAGE,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S\_\_\_\_

FILED

MAY 1 2 2010

CRC

8.25(b)

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Third Appellate District, Case No. C059887 Yolo County Superior Court, Case No. 065019 The Honorable Thomas Edward Warriner, Judge

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

# **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Where there is a conceivable basis for distinguishing between the likelihood that fear will actually result from placement of an object intended as a false bomb, versus an object intended as a false WMD, did the Legislature violate the guarantee of equal protection of the laws by conditioning felony punishment on affirmative proof of resulting fear as to the false WMD, but not for the false bomb?
- 2. Even if equal protection of the laws required identical proofs in each context to make felony punishment available, did the Court of Appeal adhere to legislative intent by precluding availability of felony punishment for appellant, rather than permitting the People to cure any inequality by proving that sustained fear resulted from appellant's placement of a false bomb?

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In a partially published opinion, the Court of Appeal found that the Legislature denied equal protection to persons who place false bombs, compared to persons who place false WMDs, in the method by which the Legislature made felony punishment available. That finding – that a legislative scheme had to be judicially reformed in order to be made constitutional – is an issue of great importance, requiring statewide uniformity. The finding was wrong under binding precedent and warrants review.

The Court of Appeal remedied the alleged defect by precluding felony punishment against appellant, barring the otherwise proper application of the Three Strikes Law. The judicial act of exempting appellant's offense, and narrowing the reach of the Three Strikes Law by judicial reformation, presents an issue of great importance, requiring statewide uniformity. That judicial act was contrary to the evident intent of the Legislature to ensure availability of felony punishment – with the accompanying impact of the Three Strikes Law – at the very least in each instance where placement of false bombs or false WMDs resulted in sustained fear. The Court of Appeal's manner of judicial reformation was therefore wrong under binding precedent, and review is warranted.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2006, appellant placed a false bomb near a government building (a dispatch center). (IRT 33-54, 92, 95-96, 108, 110.) The false bomb was a small box with "C-4" written on the front and an American flag sticking out of the top. (IRT 40, 52.)

In 2008, the Yolo County District Attorney charged appellant with placing a false bomb (Pen. Code, § 148.1, subd. (d)) and alleged that appellant had two prior "strike" convictions. (ICT 104-105.)<sup>1</sup> The jury found appellant guilty of placing the false bomb and found true the prior-conviction allegations. (ICT 206, 241, 242.) Appellant was sentenced to a total prison term of 30 years to life. (IICT 330-331.)

Appellant appealed. He argued, and in an a partially published opinion the Court of Appeal agreed, that his felony punishment under the false bomb statute violated equal protection because the statute imposed a felony for placing a false bomb without requiring affirmative proof that sustained fear resulted, but felony treatment for placing false WMDs does require affirmative proof that sustained fear resulted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further undesignated statutory references are to the Penal Code. Section 148.1, subdivision (d), will be cited as section 148.1(d).

To remedy the constitutional violation that it had found in the Legislature's method of distinguishing the necessary proofs, the Court of Appeal did not remand for the People to prove sustained fear as a condition of retaining the felony punishment. The Court failed to do so even though the Legislature had already authorized such punishment for conviction of the false bomb offense for which appellant had already been convicted. Instead, despite a rehearing petition from the People on that precise point, the Court of Appeal left in place its ruling outright barring felony punishment for appellant, and reduced appellant's offense to a misdemeanor. (Attachment A [Court of Appeal opinion]; see Court of Appeal order denying rehearing].)

# REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

I. BECAUSE IT IS AT LEAST CONCEIVABLE THAT APPELLANT'S PLACEMENT OF A FALSE BOMB WAS MORE LIKELY TO RESULT IN SUSTAINED FEAR THAN WAS PLACEMENT OF A FALSE WMD, IT DOES NOT VIOLATE EQUAL PROTECTION THAT NO AFFIRMATIVE PROOF OF SUSTAINED FEAR IS REQUIRED FOR FELONY PUNISHMENT OF APPELLANT'S OFFENSE, EVEN THOUGH AFFIRMATIVE PROOF OF SUSTAINED FEAR IS REQUIRED FOR THE NEWER OFFENSE OF PLACING A FALSE WMD

A person who places a false bomb, with intent to cause fear, is guilty of a crime punishable alternatively as a felony or misdemeanor, without the need for the prosecution to affirmatively prove that sustained fear resulted. (§ 148.1(d).) In contrast, a person who places a false WMD, with the intent to cause fear, is guilty of a crime which is punishable as a misdemeanor in the absence of proof of sustained fear, and punishable as a felony only upon affirmative proof of sustained fear. (§ 11418.1) Appellant argued, and the Court of Appeal agreed, that no rational basis exists to distinguish between placing a false bomb and placing a false WMD. Accordingly, the Court of

Appeal concluded that the statutes' differing proof requirements for felony punishment violated equal protection.

However, the Court of Appeal was required to affirm the Legislature's method of distinguishing between proofs necessary for the different offenses unless and until such method's unconstitutionality was proved "clearly, positively, and unmistakably" - with all "presumptions and intendments" in favor of rejecting appellant's challenge. (*People v. Falsetta* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 903, 912-913.) And in light of the great deference to be paid to the Legislature in making such distinctions, neither appellant's showing nor the reasoning of the Court of Appeal met that heavy burden. To the contrary, it was not clearly, positively, and unmistakably proven that there is no conceivable basis to find that at least sometimes the placement of a false bomb is worse than the placement of a false WMD. Rather, it is at least conceivable that sometimes a false bomb is more readily perceived as a dangerous object, while a false WMD more likely may not be perceived as intended to be a dangerous object at all.

# A. Legal Standards

This Court has admonished: "Generally, when we interpret a provision of the California Constitution that is similar to a provision of the federal Constitution, we will not depart from the United States Supreme Court's construction of the similar federal provision unless we are given cogent reasons to do so." (Edelstein v. City and County of San Francisco (2002) 29 Cal.4th 164, 168.)

In turn, the United States Supreme Court has described the rational basis standard for review of equal protection claims in strong terms which bar judges from engaging in examination of acts within the province of the legislative branch of government:

We many times have said, and but weeks ago repeated, that rational-basis review in equal protection analysis "is not a

license for courts to judge the wisdom, fairness, or logic of legislative choices." [Citations.] [Citations.] Nor does it authorize "the judiciary [to] sit as a superlegislature to judge the wisdom or desirability of legislative policy determinations made in areas that neither affect fundamental rights nor proceed along suspect lines." [Citation.] For these reasons, a classification neither involving fundamental rights nor proceeding along suspect lines is accorded a strong presumption of validity. [Citations.] Such a classification cannot run afoul of the Equal. Protection Clause if there is a rational relationship between the disparity of treatment and some legitimate governmental purpose. [Citations.] Further, a legislature that creates these categories need not "actually articulate at any time the purpose or rationale supporting its classification." [Citations.] Instead, a classification "must be upheld against equal protection challenge if there is any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification." [Citations.]

A State, moreover, has no obligation to produce evidence to sustain the rationality of a statutory classification. "[A] legislative choice is not subject to courtroom factfinding and may be based on rational speculation unsupported by evidence or empirical data." [Citations.] A statute is presumed constitutional, [citation], and "[t]he burden is on the one attacking the legislative arrangement to negative every conceivable basis which might support it," [citation], whether or not the basis has a foundation in the record. Finally, courts are compelled under rational-basis review to accept a legislature's generalizations even when there is an imperfect fit between means and ends. A classification does not fail rational-basis review because it "'is not made with mathematical nicety or because in practice it results in some inequality." [Citation.] "The problems of government are practical ones and may justify, if they do not require, rough accommodations – illogical, it may be, and unscientific." [Citations.] ...

(Heller v. Doe (1993) 509 U.S. 312, 319-321, emphasis added.)

While the high court has observed that there must be "some footing in the realities of the subject addressed by the legislation" (Heller v. Doe, supra, 509 U.S. at p. 321, emphasis added), that merely means a court may intervene when the "statutory classification" is one that " "rests on

grounds *wholly* irrelevant to the achievement of the State's objective" '"
(*id.* at p. 324, emphasis added). And it is not irrational to impose disparate requirements of proof – even assuming potentially similar factual results – if it is conceivable that there is a difference in how readily the operative facts can be ascertained. (*Ibid.*)

In similar fashion, this Court in People v. Wilkinson (2004) 33 Cal.4th 821, rejected the defendant's argument that his equal protection rights were violated by an irrational statutory scheme which punished the "lesser" offense of battery on a custodial officer without injury more severely than the "greater" offense of battery on a custodial officer with injury. This Court found the defendant's premise – that battery without injury is always a less serious offense than battery with injury – to be questionable. (People v. Wilkinson, supra, at p. 839.) Indeed, in refutation of the defendant's premise, this Court provided an example of "a hypothetical defendant who, in the course of grabbing the arm of a correctional officer, inflicts a puncture wound with her fingernail that requires medical attention" compared to a "defendant who repeatedly hits and kicks the correctional officer, intending to cause serious injury but does not do so through no lack of effort." (Ibid., internal quotation marks omitted.) Thus, the statutory scheme was neither irrational nor offensive to equal protection principles because the Legislature could have believed that the "ostensible 'lesser' offense . . . sometimes may constitute a more serious offense and merit greater punishment than the 'greater' offense." (Ibid., emphasis added.)

# B. Application

It is both conceivable and logical that a principal harm resulting from placement of a *false* bomb or WMD is the fear that results once another person mistakenly *perceives* the item to be a bomb or WMD. And it is conceivable that there may be differences between the likelihood that a

false bomb will trigger such perception and the likelihood that a false WMD will trigger such perception.

It would not be irrational to speculate that, given the long-standing public exposure to bombs in their many forms, the typical defendant attempting to make an item look like a bomb will have a considerable likelihood of success. Thus, it would not be irrational to speculate that the typical innocent person encountering the item will be likely to perceive the item as a bomb. Conceivably, it is easy enough to seal a box with a ticking clock inside, or fashion a device with tell-tale wires exposed (things commonly shown on television or in movies), to create an object likely to be perceived as a bomb. Hence, it is rational to speculate that in the great majority of cases a defendant who sets out to create fear, by means of a placing a false bomb, will succeed in creating sustained fear.

In contrast, public exposure to WMDs is far less long-standing, and it is at least reasonably conceivable that for many persons – both defendants and innocent members of the public, even if to different degrees - the appearance of WMDs is not so readily known. Items intended to falsely represent WMDs include many different objects (see § 11417) that an average person might readily dismiss, unaware that the (false) items were even intended to appear dangerous. For example, a false WMD could simply be an envelope containing trace amounts of talcum powder – that an average person, upon receipt, might readily dismiss as not intended to represent a dangerous item. Alternatively, a bottle or vial with liquid inside, labeled (or not) with the name of an obscure dangerous chemical agent, may be placed and thus encountered in many areas where (irrespective of the defendant's intent) the item simply may be dismissed, possibly as only cleaning material. Thus, it is conceivable that a defendant who sets out to create fear, by means of a placing a false WMD, will be less likely to create sustained fear. And because it is conceivably less certain

that a false WMD will create fear, a legitimate governmental objective would be to decline, at the present time, to extend felony treatment to placement of false WMDs in the absence of some assurance that fear actually resulted from this new form of crime.<sup>2</sup>

It does not suffice, to prove the unconstitutionality of a legislative scheme, that a court might suspect it is unfair, imperfect, illogical, or at times inequitable. (*Heller v. Doe, supra*, 509 U.S. at pp. 319, 321.)

Therefore, it is not unconstitutional for the false bomb and false WMD statutes to (1) operate in light of that conceivable difference in the likelihood of resulting fear, by (2) requiring actual proof of fear in one case, but not the other, to obtain felony treatment. In any event, there is considerable logic in the different requirements of proof.

As stated, a conceivable difference is that placement of a false WMD is somewhat (or at least sometimes) less likely than a false bomb to succeed in creating fear. The statutory scheme requires affirmative proof of success in the former case to obtain felony punishment, and does not require affirmative proof of success in the latter to obtain felony punishment. It cannot be said that imposing the requirement of proof only in the more uncertain false WMD context is "wholly irrelevant" to a legitimate governmental objective of limiting the availability of felony punishment absent some reasonable assurance that harm has actually resulted from the newer form of crime.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "The Legislature is not bound, in order to adopt a constitutionally valid statute, to extend it to all cases which might possibly be reached, but is free to recognize degrees of harm and to confine its regulation to those classes of cases in which the need is deemed to be the most evident.' [Citation.] '[T]he Equal Protection Clause does not require that a State must choose between attacking every aspect of a problem or not attacking the problem at all.' [Citation.]" (*People v. Silva* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 1160, 1170.)

The Court of Appeal overlooked this conceivable basis for distinction when it did not "divine any plausible reason" for felony punishment for placing a false bomb without affirmative proof that sustained fear resulted.<sup>3</sup> (Attachment A at p. 12.) The Court of Appeal focused on a belief that WMDs and bombs are legally indistinguishable. (*Ibid.*) But it is unnecessary to explore the correctness of that belief regarding *real* WMDs and bombs, whose harm is inflicted whether or not the victims were aware of their presence and nature.

Here, the Legislature's method of distinction focuses on harm caused by *false* WMDs and bombs. It is at least conceivable that a substantial quantum of that harm is resulting *fear* – and fear results only when a false device is *recognized* as the dangerous object it is intended to represent. If the device is not recognized for what it is intended to represent, then it will not instill fear. It is thus at least conceivable that "sometimes" the false WMD is distinctly less harmful (i.e., less likely to induce fear because it is less likely to be perceived as a dangerous object) than a more recognizable false bomb. It follows, under *Heller v. Doe*, *supra*, and *People v. Wilkinson*, *supra*, that it does not deny equal protection that felony punishment for placing a false WMD requires actual proof of fear, but felony punishment for placing a false bomb does not.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although the People did not develop this point until the rehearing brief, it was the affirmative burden of the challenging party "to negative every conceivable basis" which "might" make the statutory classification rational (*Heller v. Doe, supra*, 509 U.S. at p. 320), and the effect of the Court of Appeal's erroneous ruling would not be limited to the parties to this litigation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Finally, this Court should not be overly concerned with what the Legislature actually contemplated in creating this legislative distinction. (See Attachment A at pp. 8-9, 12-13.) In the context of equal protection challenges, this Court has explained that "it is irrelevant whether the perceived reason for the challenged distinction *actually* motivated the (continued...)

This Court therefore should grant review to settle the important question whether the judicial power properly extends to precluding the Legislature from making its chosen distinction between the proofs necessary to make felony punishment available for placement of false bombs versus placement of false WMDs.

II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S REMEDY, REDUCING APPELLANT'S SENTENCE TO A MISDEMEANOR, IS CONTRARY TO LEGISLATIVE INTENT IN THAT IT PRECLUDES FELONY PUNISHMENT FOR APPELLANT EVEN IF THE PEOPLE COULD PROVE APPELLANT CAUSED SUSTAINED FEAR

The Court of Appeal's remedy – reducing appellant's sentence to a misdemeanor – effectively judicially reformed the statute to preclude felony punishment for appellant, irrespective of whether he caused sustained fear. In doing so, the Court of Appeal deprived the People of the opportunity to prove that appellant caused sustained fear when he placed the false bomb, thus warranting felony punishment. Because any remedy for the alleged constitutional defect should track the result that the Legislature most likely would have wanted if the statute was found unconstitutional, and because the Legislature clearly wanted the option of felony punishment for a person

<sup>(...</sup>continued)

legislature." (People v. Hofsheier (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1185, 1201.) Rather, while a court should decline to invent a fictitious purpose that reasonably could not have been within the legislature's contemplation (id. at p. 1201), it is unnecessary to show that such reason actually was affirmatively contemplated. Instead, a statute's differentiation based on a challenged classification (other than race or another protected category) must be upheld against an equal protection challenge "if there is any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification" (Kasler v. Lockyer (2000) 23 Cal.4th 472, 481-482, internal quotation marks, emphasis, and citations omitted; Hofsheier, supra, at pp. 1200-1201). Thus, equal protection requires only that the statutory classification be rationally related to a conceivable (even if not affirmatively known to be the actual) legitimate governmental purpose.

such as appellant (who caused sustained fear), the Court of Appeal's remedy is erroneous.

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