IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

\$182598 | Supreme Court No.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Court of Appeal No. C059887

v.

BARRY ALLEN TURNAGE,

Defendant and Appellant.

Yolo Superior Court No. 06-5019

No. 04-1665

APPELLANT TURNAGE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SUPREME COURT

Appeal From the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California of the County of Yolo

MAY 2 4 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

HONORABLE THOMAS E. WARRINER

LAW OFFICE OF
PEGGY A. HEADLEY
#180
11448 Deerfield Drive, Suite 2
Truckee, CA 96161
CA Bar # 127301
Telephone: 530-550-7458
Appointed by the Third District
Court of Appeal Under The

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The factual and procedural summary in the appellate court's opinion is adequate for this petition, and is incorporated herein. (Opn. at p. 1-7.)

All unspecified statutory references are to the Penal Code.

ARGUMENT

I. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED AS TO RESPONDENT'S FIRST ISSUE: AS THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DECIDED, THERE IS NO RATIONAL BASIS FOR PUNISHING FALSE BOMBS WITHOUT SUSTAINED FEAR AS A FELONY AND PUNISHING FALSE WEAPONS OF MASS DESTRUCTION WITHOUT SUSTAINED FEAR ONLY AS A MISDEMEANOR

As to respondent's first issue, review should be denied. There is no rational basis for punishing false bombs more severely than false weapons of mass destruction (WMD). Under section 148.1, subdivision (d), placing a false or facsimile bomb, without sustained fear, is punishable as a felony. However, under section 11418.1, placing a false or facsimile WMD, without sustained fear, is *only* punishable as a *misdemeanor*. As the Court of Appeal correctly decided, appellant's equal protection rights were violated.

According to respondent, the rational basis is that false WMDs are less recognizable than false bombs. Respondent's argument is meritless.

Specifically, (1) respondent's distinction ignores the legislative history; (2) respondent's distinction is counter intuitive; (3) respondent's distinction focuses upon the wrong group -- one that experiences *no fear at all* (because they do not recognize a false WMD) -- but the question here is between two groups that *do experience fear*, albeit nonsustained; and (4) respondent's argument is forfeited because it was first raised in respondent's petition for rehearing.

First, respondent's distinction – that false WMDs are less recognizable than false bombs – ignores the false WMD statute's legislative history. Section 11418.1's legislative history figured prominently in the Court of Appeal's decision. As the Court of Appeal stressed, the false WMD statute's legislative history convincingly demonstrates there is no rational basis for punishing false bombs without sustained fear as a felony and punishing false WMDS without sustained fear *only* as a misdemeanor. (Opn. at p. 8-9; 12-13.) In particular, section 11418.1's legislative history includes a recognition that the false bomb and false WMD statutes concern similar conduct and the penalties should be similar. (Opn. at p. 9.)

Section 11418.1's legislative history also persuasively demonstrates the false WMD misdemeanor provision was designed to avoid automatic exposure to the Three Strikes Law, which is the precise adverse consequence suffered by appellant here under the false bomb statute, which was first enacted in 1972, prior to the Three Strikes law. (Opn. at p. 9, 12-13.) Respondent's failure to confront this compelling legislative history demonstrates respondent's petition for review should be denied.

Second, respondent's claim that false bombs should be punished more severely than false WMDs is decidedly counter intuitive. As a matter of common sense, a false weapon of *mass destruction* would likely cause greater fear than a false bomb. As the Court of Appeal explained: "The fear of a false WMD, given the more far-reaching effects of such devices, would generally be more severe

(even in the absence of sustained fear) than only an explosive device whose destructive effects could be more easily evaded, and yet the [false WMD] incurs the lesser punishment." (Opn. at p. 12.) Stated another way, with a false bomb, a victim can simply run away. With a false weapon of mass destruction, a fearful victim may be unable to reach a place of safety due to WMDs' far- reaching effects. Additionally, unlike a bomb, mere exposure to the WMD may be all that is needed to cause harm.

Third, respondent's purported distinction -- that false WMDs are less recognizable than false bombs focuses upon the wrong group -- one that experiences *no fear at all* (because they do not recognize a false WMD). Here, the question is between two groups that *do experience fear*, albeit nonsustained.

Thus, even if false WMDs are less recognizable than false bombs, this is the wrong distinction. It does not answer why there is a rational basis for distinguishing between two groups when victims of both groups do experience fear, albeit nonsustained fear. (See e.g. *People v. Hofsheier* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1185, 1205 ["It is not an argument that distinguishes between the two crimes"].)

Finally, respondent's rational basis argument is forfeited. It was first raised in the People's rehearing petition, as respondent essentially concedes. (Resp. Pet for Rev., p. 9, fn. 3; 9 Witkin, California Procedure (4th ed. 1997) Appeal, § 851, p. 886 ["It is the duty of counsel to see that all points are properly presented in the original briefs or argument, before submission"]; *CAMSI IV v. Hunter Technology Corp.* (1991) 230 Cal.App.3d 1525, 1542 ["First, a reviewing court need not

consider points raised for the first time on petition for rehearing"].) Under rule 8.500, subdivision (c)(1), issues not timely presented in the Court of Appeal are not normally considered by this Court. Thus, the issue is forfeited.

For all these reasons, respondent's rational basis argument must fail.

Inquiry into the link between the unequal treatment and legislative goals

persuasively demonstrates that respondent's purported distinction is nothing more
than a fictitious purpose, and there is no realistically conceivable legislative

purpose for punishing false bombs without sustained fear as a felony, and

punishing false WMDs without sustained fear, *only* as a misdemeanor. (*People v. Hofsheier, supra*, 37 Cal.4th at p. 1201.) The petition for review should be denied.

II. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED AS TO RESPONDENT'S SECOND ISSUE: THE COURT OF APPEAL'S REMEDY WAS CORRECT AND CONSISTENT WITH LEGISLATIVE INTENT; RESPONDENT NOW SEEKS A REMEDY THAT SUBVERTS A PLETHORA OF CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTIONS

Review should be denied as to respondent's second issue. The Court of Appeal's remedy was correct and was overwhelmingly consistent with the Legislative intent. In arguing otherwise, respondent simply repeats, in altered form, the same relief requested by respondent's petition for rehearing (which the Court of Appeal denied) while at the same time sidestepping the compelling legislative history. As the Court of Appeal framed the question:

Appellant's answer should be directed to the issue of whether the court should exercise its power of judicial reformation (*Kopp v. Fair Pol. Practices Com.* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 607, 660-661; *Woods v. Horton* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 658, 678) to amend Penal Code section 148.1, subdivision (d) to require proof of "sustained fear" (as defined in Penal Code section 11418.5, subdivision (b)) in order to punish a violation as a felony, then reverse defendant's conviction and remand the matter for retrial.

As it was in the Court of Appeal, the answer here is a resounding no. If a new crime with a new element of sustained fear under section 148.1, subdivision (d) is to be created, then it is up to the Legislature to do so. Respondent's proposed remedy upends a multitude of constitutional protections, including infringing upon the separation of powers doctrine, double jeopardy rights under section 1023, due process and would also effectuate yet another violation of appellant's right to equal protection under the laws. Review should be denied.

A. This Court Should Not Judicially Reform Section 148.1, Subdivision (d) To Add A New Element Of Sustained Fear

This Court should not judicially reform section 148.1 to add a new element of sustained fear. As explained below, to do so (1) is outside the scope of permissible remedies for equal protection violations; (2) would not "effectuate policy judgments clearly articulated" by the legislature as the legislative history persuasively reveals; and (3) would create, by judicial fiat, a new crime with a new element of sustained fear in dramatic contravention of the separation of powers doctrine. (*Kopp v. Fair Pol. Practices Com.* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 607, 660-661.) In sum, the prerequisites for judicial reformation are missing. Thus, adding "sustained fear" would amount to judicial policymaking and usurp the power of the Legislature. (Cal. Const., Art. IV, § 1; Pen. Code, § 6.)

Kopp v. Fair Pol. Practices Com. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 607 describes the standard for judicial reformation. Under Kopp:

"[A] court may reform -- i.e., 'rewrite'-- a statute in order to preserve it against invalidation under the Constitution, when we can say with confidence that (i) it is possible to reform the statute in a manner that closely effectuates policy judgments clearly articulated by the enacting body, and (ii) the enacting body would have preferred the reformed construction to invalidation of the statute."

(*Id.* at p. 661, italics added; see also *Woods v. Horton* (2008) 167 Cal.App.4th 658, 678-679.)

The judicial reformation power is limited and restricted. It is a "comparatively drastic alternative." (*Arp v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 395, 407.)

Courts must not indulge in judicial policymaking because judicial policymaking "encroaches on the Legislature's function and violates the separation of powers doctrine." (*Abbot Laboratories v. Franchise Tax Bd.* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 1346, 1361; citing *Kopp v. Fair Pol. Practices Com., supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 661 [judicial reformation rejected]; *Ventas Finance I, LLC v. Franchise Tax Bd.* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1207, 1224 [same]; *Pederson v. Superior Court* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 931, 943 [same].)

First, section 148.1, subdivision (d) may not be reformed to add a new element of sustained fear because adding sustained fear falls outside the scope of remedies available for an equal protection violation.

Specifically, when a statute violates equal protection, an appellate court has two choices for the remedy: (1) it can invalidate the statute; or (2) it can *extend the benefits* to the party *aggrieved*. (*Kopp v. Fair Pol. Practices Com., supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 635, 649-653; *Woods v. Horton, supra*, 167 Cal.App.4th at p. 679.)

There is no third option to reach out and rewrite the rest of the statute. That power is vested with the Legislative branch. (Cal. Const., Art. IV, § 1; Pen. Code, § 6.)

Here, the Court of Appeal did what it needed to do and no more. Extending section 11418.1's misdemeanor benefit to appellant remedies the equal protection violation of the party aggrieved – appellant. Respondent cites no authority demonstrating that judicial reformation in an equal protection context includes granting the benefits to the party aggrieved *and* also rewriting any other language in the statute that the People seek to change.

The cases respondent does cite are not on point because none of the defendants in those cases were aggrieved by the equal protection violation.² (*People v. Liberta* (1984) 64 N.Y.2d 152; 163-164, 170-173; *Plas v. State* (Alaska 1979) 598 P.2d 966; *State v. Books* (Iowa 1975) 225 N.W.2d 322.)

In short, respondent's proposed judicial overreaching must be avoided. For equal protection purposes, judicial reformation of a law enacted by the Legislature is restricted to the issue before the court, and the rights of the party aggrieved. To alter section 148.1, subdivision (d) by adding a new element of sustained fear would amount to judicial policymaking.

Second, matching up section 148.1 and 11418.1 is not necessarily as simple as merely adding section 11418.5's definition of "sustained fear" to section 148.1, subdivision (d) and the complexity demands that the Legislature do the job, rather than this Court.

² In *People v. Liberta* (1984) 64 N.Y.2d 152, the defendant was not aggrieved by the equal protection violation: he was not married under the marriage definition and so striking the unconstitutional marital exemption from the sex crimes statutes had no impact upon his sex crimes convictions. Likewise, as a man, the defendant was not aggrieved by the statute that excluded women from being prosecuted for raping men. (*Id.* at p. 163-164, 170-173.) In *Plas v. State* (Alaska 1979) 598 P.2d 966, the female prostitute was not aggrieved by a prostitution statute that did not cover male prostitutes. In *State v. Books* (Iowa 1975) 225 N.W.2d 322, the defendant, who gave gifts to county employees, was not aggrieved by an unconstitutional statute that prohibited gifts to county employees but exempted state employees and officials from its scope. (*Id.* at p. 326.)

Under section 11418.5, "sustained fear" includes "isolation, quarantine, or decontamination effort" and this language would *not apply* to false bombs. (Pen. Code, § 11418.5, subd. (b).) Respondent asserts the dispatch center was evacuated, like respondent did below. The Court of Appeal's statement of facts demonstrates the Court of Appeal rejected respondent's claim. (Opn. at p. 4 ["No one else left the building, and as far as the dispatcher could recall the YCCC operations were not interrupted"].) This Court must accept the Court of Appeal's factual statement. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subd. (c)(2).)

Additionally, the legislative history refutes respondent's claim that section 148.1 should be doctored by adding 11418.5's definition of sustained fear. The history reveals the Legislature believed felony treatment of false WMDs, and thus exposure to the Three Strikes Law, was warranted because sustained fear from false WMDs could be equivalent to "violent conduct." (Sen. Com. on Pub. Safety, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 1838 (2001-2002 Reg. Sess.) p. 19-20, as amended March 7, 2002, for hearing on June 18, 2002.) The legislative history explains that "persons exposed to facsimile WMDs often must undergo invasive medical care or prophylactic treatment with antibiotics such as CIPRO that cause harmful and debilitating side effects." (*Ibid.*)

These described circumstances, which were equated to violent conduct, would not arise with a false bomb. Thus, the legislative intent fails to show with certainty that the Legislature would add a new element of sustained fear to the

false bomb statute, section 148.1, subdivision (d).³ Instead, the history persuasively demonstrates section 11418.5's definition of sustained fear is inapplicable to false bombs.

Consequently, this Court plainly cannot say "with confidence" that adding "sustained fear" would "closely [effectuate] policy judgments clearly articulated by the enacting body." (*Kopp v. Fair Political Practices, supra,* 11 Cal.4th at p. 611.)

Judicial reformation is a "comparatively drastic alternative." (*Arp v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.*, *supra*, 19 Cal.3d at p. 407; see also *People v. Sandoval* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 825, 849.) *Kopp* ultimately rejected judicial reformation, *Woods* judicially reformed only to add the excluded benefits, and in *People v. Sandoval, supra*, 41 Cal.4th 825, the Legislature had already enacted the new determinate sentencing law, and it was simple to discern the legislative intent. (*Kopp v. Fair Pol. Practices Com., supra*, 11 Cal.4th at p. 671; *Woods v. Horton, supra*, 167 Cal.App.4th at p. 679; *People v. Sandoval* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 825, 849.)

Finally, the power to create crimes is vested in the Legislature. (Pen. Code, § 6; *People v. Chun* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1172, 1183.) By extending section 11418.1's benefit to section 148.1, subdivision (d), the Court of Appeal created no

³ Also, section 11418.1 includes a fine of \$250,000 but section 148.1, subdivision (d) does not. Section 11418.5, subdivision (a), regarding "threats" to use a WMD and section 148.1, subdivision (a), (b), and (c), regarding "reports" of false bombs or explosives, are worded very differently. As section 11418.5 was enacted more recently than section 148.1, the Legislature may wish to update section 148.1.

new crime because section 148.1, subdivision (d) is already a wobbler. But to add "sustained fear" to section 148.1, subdivision (d) would create, by judicial fiat, a new crime with a new element. That is not this Court's job. The Legislature is entrusted with the task, they are best suited to the job, and they have the tools at hand to perform it. To conclude otherwise would violate the separation of powers doctrine. (Cal. Const., Art. IV, § 1.)

B. <u>If "Sustained Fear" Is Added To Section 148.1</u>, <u>Subdivision (d)</u>, <u>Appellant May Not Be Retried For The New Crime</u>

If "sustained fear" is added to section 148.1, subdivision (d), appellant may not be retried for the new crime. A retrial of appellant, with its attendant expense, is prohibited. This is because (1) a retrial would violate section 1023 and its double jeopardy prohibition; (2) it would violate due process to retry appellant; and (3) it would also violate equal protection.

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